Dynamic Biochemistry, Process Biotechnology and Molecular Biology ©2008 Global Science Books



Fungal Laccases and Their Biotechnological Applications with Special Reference to Bioremediation

Buddolla Viswanath^{1,2*} • M. Subhosh Chandra^{1,3} • K. Praveen Kumar¹ • H. Pallavi¹ • B. Rajasekhar Reddy^{1**}

¹ Department of Microbiology, Sri Krishnadevaraya University, Anantapur - 515 003, Andhra Pradesh, India

² Present address: Department of Biotechnology, Center for Water and Waste-water Technology, Durban University of Technology. Durban, 4000, South Africa

³ Present address: Department of Biotechnology, College of Natural Resources and Life Science, Dong-a University 840, Hadan-dong, Saha-gu, Busan-604 714, South Korea Corresponding authors: * ViswanathB@dut.ac.za ** rajasekhar_bontha@yahoo.co.in

ABSTRACT

The exploration for efficient and green oxidation technologies has increased the interest in the use of enzymes to replace conventional non-biological methods. Among the different existing oxidant enzymes, laccases have been the subject of study due to their importance in environment protection, where enzymatic catalysis could serve as a more environmentally benign alternative than the currently used chemical processes. Fungal laccases are extracellular multi-copper oxidases mainly secreted by filamentous fungi. They have been attracting the attention of environmental scientists because of their ability to oxidise a wide variety of aromatic compounds. Though the laccases are demonstrated to have a range of promising applications, they are used in bioremediation of soils, water and the development of environmentally friendly processes in the pulp and paper industry. This paper reviews the potential applications of laccase enzymes with special reference to bioremediation.

Keywords: oxidoreductases, bioremediation, decolorization, effluent treatment, xenobiotics

Abbreviations: ABTS, 2,2'-azinobis-(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonate); DDT, 1,1,1-trichloro-2,2-bis(4-chlorophenyl)ethane; EPR, electron paramagnetic resonance; NPEOs, nonylphenol polyethoxylates; PAH, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons; PCB, polychlorinated biphenyls; PCP, pentachlorophenols; TNT, trinitrotoluene

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
DISTRIBUTION AND PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS	2
LACCASE REACTION MECHANISM	2
MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF LACCASES	3
HETEROLOGOUS PRODUCTION OF LACCASES	4
INDUSTRIAL APPLICATIONS	5
LACCASES - ROLE IN BIOREMEDIATION	6
Degradation of xenobiotics	6
Decolourization of dves	7
Effluent treatment	7
CONCLUSIONS	7
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	8
REFERENCES	8

INTRODUCTION

Enzymatic oxidation techniques have a large potential within a great variety of industrial fields including the pulp, paper, textile and food industries. Enzymes recycling on molecular oxygen as an electron acceptor are the most interesting ones (Rodríguez Couto and Toca Herrera 2006, 2007; Mendonça et al. 2008). Thus, laccase is particularly a promising enzyme for the above-mentioned purposes. Laccases (EC 1.10.3.2) are defined in the Enzyme Commission (EC) nomenclature as oxidoreductases, which oxidize diphenols and related substances and use molecular oxygen as an electron acceptor (Thurston 1994; Viswanath et al. 2008a). They are a group of oxidative and copper-containing enzymes whose exploitation as biocatalysts in organic synthesis has been neglected in the past, probably because they were not commercially available (Baldrian 2006; Riva 2006; Joo et al. 2008). Other members of this group include mammalian plasma protein - ceruplasmin and ascorbate oxidase of plants. Although laccases are known as diphenol oxidases, monophenols like 2,6-dimethoxyphenol or guiacol are used as better substrate than diphenol-catechol or hydroquinone. In spite of display of different physiological functions in different organisms, laccases basically catalyse polymerisation and depolymerisation processes. Reactions catalysed by laccases proceed by monoelectronic oxidation of a suitable substrate molecule to the corresponding reactive radical (Riva 2006). The redox process takes place with assistance of a cluster of copper ions that form catalytic core of the enzyme (Wong 2008). Laccases are of particular interest with regard to potential applications, because of their capabilities to oxidize a wide range of environmentally dangerous substrates. Greater attention on laccase, an ecofriendly enzyme and a green catalyst in recent past is generating information that appeared in a number of reviews (Baldrian 2006; Riva 2006; Singh and Chen 2008; Wong 2008) in the last couple

of years. These reviews dealt laccase-producing organisms, structure of enzyme, reaction mechanisms and general applications. In the present review, emphasis is focussed on molecular biology of laccase genes, heterologous expression of laccase genes and bioremediation.

DISTRIBUTION AND PHYSIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS

Laccases are common enzymes in nature, being widely found in plants and fungi as well as in some bacteria and insects (Thurston 1994; Gianfreda et al. 1999; Mayer and Staples 2002; Claus 2004; Kiiskinen et al. 2004; Dong et al. 2005; Minussi et al. 2007a). The physiological functions of these biocatalysts, which are mostly secreted and sometimes intracellular, are different in various organisms but they all catalyse polymerization or depolymerization processes (Riva 2006). The first laccase was reported in 1883 from Rhus vernicifera, the Japanese lacquer tree (Reinhammar 1984), from which the designation laccase was derived and the enzyme was characterized as a metal-containing oxidase by Bertrand (1985). Laccases have subsequently been detected in all species of family Anacardiaceae, and other plants - Acer pseudoplatanus, Pinus taeda, Aesculus parviflora and Populus eruamericana (Bligny and Douce 1983; De Marco and Roubelakis-Angelakis 1997; Ranocha et al. 1999, Hüttermann et al. 2001; Mayer and Staples 2002). Plant laccases are found in the xylem, where they presumably oxidize monolignols in the early stages of lignification (Bao et al. 1993; O'Malley et al. 1993; Gavnholt and Larsen 2002; Mayer and Staples 2002) and also participate in the radical-based mechanisms of lignin polymer formation (Hoopes and Dean 2004). In addition, laccases have been shown to be involved in the first steps of healing in wounded leaves (De Marco and Roubelakis-Angelakis 1997). However, the occurrence of laccases in higher plants appears to be far more limited than in fungi (Mayer and Staples 2002; Hoegger et al. 2006; Baldrian 2006).

Only a few bacterial laccases have been described hitherto. The first bacterial laccase was detected in the plant root-associated bacterium 'Azospirillium lipoferum', where it was shown to be involved in melanin formation (Givaudan et al. 1993; Faure et al. 1994). An atypical laccase containing six putative copper-binding sites was discovered in Marinomonas mediterranea, but no functional role has been assigned to this enzyme (Sanchez-Amat et al. 2001). Bacillus subtilis produces a thermostable CotA laccase which participates in pigment production in the endospore coat (Martins et al. 2002). Although there are also some other reports about laccase activity in bacteria (Givaudan et al. 1993; Martins et al. 2002; Claus 2003; Dubé et al. 2008), it does not seem probable that laccases are common enzymes in certain prokaryotic groups. Bacterial laccase-like proteins are intracellular or periplasmic proteins (Claus 2003; Baldrian 2006). Currently, all marketed laccases are of fungal origin, but the recent identification and structure determination of a bacterial laccase may eventually broaden the horizon for this enzyme class (Enguita et al. 2003). It remains to be seen whether bacterial enzymes can be expressed at levels sufficient for their commercialization.

Laccases are widespread in many fungal species belonging to ascomycetes and basidiomycetes and the enzyme has already been purified from many species. Laccase production in Phytopathogenic ascomyycetes like *Gaeumannomyces graminis* (Edens *et al.* 1999), *Magnaporthe grisea* (Iyer and Chattoo 2003), *Melanocarpus albomyces* (Kiiskinen *et al.* 2002), *Monocillium indicum* (Thakker *et al.* 1992), some soil ascomycete species from the genera *Aspergillus*, *Curvularia* and *Penicillium* (Banerjee and Vohra 1991; Rodríguez *et al.* 1996; Scherer and Fischer 1998), as well as some fresh water ascomycetes (Abdel-Raheem and Shearer 2002; Junghanns *et al.* 2005), was reported. Among yeasts, to date, laccase was only purified from the human pathogen *Cryptococcus* (*Filobasidiella*) *neoformans* (Williamson 1994). This laccase is involved in the synthesis of melanin which was responsible for protection of yeast from animal host oxidative immune response (Liu et al. 1999) and fungicides (Ikeda et al. 2003). Among physiological groups of fungi, laccases are typical for the wood-rotting basidiomycetes and a related group of litter-decomposing saprotrophic fungi i.e., the species causing lignin degradation. Agaricus bisporus (Wood 1980), Botrytis cinerea (Marbach et al. 1984), Coprinus cinereus (Schneider et al. 1999), Phlebia radiata (Niku-Paavola et al. 1988), Pleurotus ostreatus (Sannia et al. 1986), Cerrena unicolor (Kim et al. 2002), Stereum ostrea (Viswanath et al. 2008b), Phlebia radiata (Campoy et al. 2008), Fomitella fraxinea (Park and Park 2008), Stereum hirsutum (Mouso et al. 2007), Lentinus tigrinus (Ferraroni et al. 2007) and Trametes versicolor (Rogalski et al. 1991; Minussi et al. 2007b) are some examples of basidiomycetes that produce laccases. Almost all species of white-rot fungi were reported to produce laccases with different production levels (Hatakka 2001). The majority of laccases characterized so far have been derived especially from white-rot fungi because of their abundance (Gianfreda et al. 1999; Kiiskinen et al. 2004). Fungal laccase plays a role in pigment formation in spores, detoxification of phenol compounds produced during lignin degradation and acts synergesticlly with other enzymes in the breakdown of lignin. In addition to plants, bacteria and fungi, laccases or laccase-like activities have been found in some insects, where they have been suggested to be active in cuticle sclerotization (Sidjanski et al. 1997; Dittmer et al. 2004).

LACCASE REACTION MECHANISM

Laccases occur often as isozymes with monomeric or dimeric protein structures (Thurston 1994). Most monomeric laccase molecules contain four copper ions in their structure that can be classified in three groups using UV/visible and electron paramagnetic resonance (EPR) spectroscopy (Le-ontievsky et al. 1997). The type I copper (T1) is responsible for the intense blue colour of the enzymes at 600 nm and is EPR-detectable, the type II copper (T2) is colourless, but EPR-detectable, and the type $\bar{3}$ copper (T3) consists of a pair of copper ions that give a weak absorbance near the UV spectrum but no EPR signal (Palmieri et al. 1998). The T2 and T3 copper sites are close together and form a trinuclear centre that are involved in the catalytic mechanism of the enzyme (Palmieri et al. 1998; Solomon et al. 2001; Palmer et al. 2003; Quintanar et al. 2005; Ferraroni et al. 2007; Augustine et al. 2008). The three-dimensional structures of a few fungal laccases (Hakulinen et al. 2002; Piontek et al. 2002) and the CotA laccase from Bacillus subtilis (Enguita et al. 2003) have been characterised. All fungal laccases show a similar architecture consisting of three sequentially arranged domains of a β -barrel type structure (Fig. 1). The active site is well conserved with four copper sites T1 is located in domain 3 with copper lying in a shallow depression and trinuclear copper cluster is at the interface between domains 1 and 3 with each domain providing ligand residues at the coordination of copper ions. The T1 copper is coordinated with His-N and Cys-S as conserved equatorial ligands (Palmer et al. 1999). The axial position has Leu or Phe that does not participate in the coordination. The copper-thioether bond and noncoordination residue strongly influence the redox potential of the enzyme. Laccases from different sources displays a wide range of redox potentials. The T1 site of laccase of T. versicolor shows a high redox potential of 780-800mV (Pointek et al. 2002) where as the plant R. vernifera enzyme has a value of 420 mV (Reinhammar 1984). The T1 site is the primary electron acceptor site where the enzyme catalyses four 1e oxidations of a reducing substrate (Huang et al. 1999a, 1999b). The T2/T3 trinuclear site is where the reduction of molecular oxygen takes place by accepting electrons from T1 site. Elucidation of the nature coordination of the copper sites in laccase by spectroscopic and DFT studies (Quintanar et al. 2005) reveals that the T2 copper site is coordinated to two His-N and one oxygen atom as OH while each of the T3 coppers coordinates to



Fig. 1 Ribbon representation of the X-Ray crystallographic structure of *Trametes versicolor* laccase. Modified from figure at www.chem.ox.ac.uk/icl/faagroup/fuelcell.html.



Fig. 2 Oxidation of phenolic sub-units of lignin by laccase.

three His residues. Further, both T2 and T3 copper sites have open coodrination positions towards the center of trinuclear cluster with the negative protein pocket (four conserved Asp/Glu residues). Reduction of oxygen takes place via the formation bound oxygen intermediates (Zoppellaro *et al.* 2000).

Laccase promotes substraction of one electron from phenolic hydroxyl groups of lignin to form phenoxy radical (Fig. 2). The degradation of lignin proceeds by phenoxy radical that leads to either oxidation at C_{α} -carbon or cleavage of bond between $C_{\alpha}\text{-carbon}$ and $C_{\beta}\text{-carbon}.$ This oxidation results in an oxygen-centered free radical, which can then be converted in a second enzyme-catalysed reaction to quinone. The quinone and the free radicals can then undergo polymerization (Thurston 1994). The presence of electronwithdrawing substituents at phenoxy groups and bulky groups are more difficult to be oxidised. Laccase catalysed oxidation of phenols, anilines and benzene correlates with the redox potential difference between laccase's T1 copper site and the substrate (Xu 1996). Laccases has been found to oxidise nonphenolic compounds and lignin in the presence of mediators -2,2'-azinobis-(3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6sulfonate) (ABTS), I-hydroxybenzotrizole (HBT) and 3 hydroxyanthranilic acid (Bourbonnais et al. 1995, 1998). As oxygen uptake by laccase in presence of ABTS is faster than in HBT, widening of the substrate range of laccase to



Fig. 3 Oxidation of non-phenolic lignin subunits by laccase and ABTS.

non-phenolic subunits of lignin by the inclusion of a mediator such as ABTS is shown in **Fig. 3**. ABTS-mediated oxidation of nonphenolic substrates proceeds via electron transfer mechanism through formation of ABTS⁺⁺. Further investigation is warranted on the precise role of small molecule mediators in the catalytic mechanism of laccase.

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF LACCASES

Isozymes of laccases in lignolytic organisms are encoded by multiplicity of laccase gene sequences (Mander et al. 2006). For example, the number of *laccase* genes in *Rhizoctonia* solani is four (Wahleithner et al. 1996), five in Trametes species (Yaver and Golightly 1996; Yaver et al. 1996; Hoshida et al. 2001), three in the Basidiomycete I-62 (Mansur et al. 1997), at least two in Agaricus bisporus (Smith et al. 1998), at least three in Pleurotus species (Giardina et al. 1999; Soden and Dobson 2001; Palmieri et al. 2003; Rodríguez et al. 2008), four in Podospora anserine (Fernandez-Larrea and Stahl 1996), two in Lentinula edoeles (Zhao and Kwan 1999) or three in Gaumannomyces graminis (Litvintseva and Henson 2002). For the first time, laccase genes were isolated and sequenced about 20 years ago from the fungi Neurospora crassa (Germann and Lerch 1986), Aspergillus nidulans (Aramayo and Timberlake 1990), Corio-lus hirsutus (Kojima et al. 1990), and Phlebia radiata (Saloheimo et al. 1991). Since then, sequencing of laccase genes has increased considerably. Laccase genes in lignolytic fungi have been cloned and characterized (Kojima et al 1990; Saloheimo et al. 1991; Coll et al 1993; Giardina et al. 1995; Yaver et al. 1996; Jonsson et al. 1997). The overall intron-exon structure of all three laccase genes in G. graminis (Litvintseva and Henson 2002) and in P. ostreaus (Giardina et al. 1999) is distinct. Analysis of laccase genes in different organisms points out conserved sequences in genes that encode copper binding regions of N-terminal domain of laccase enzyme. These sequences are *laccase* genespecific and have become basis for PCR-based screening for the presence of the laccase genes in organisms (Pointing et al. 2005). However, the number of laccase genes of which the corresponding protein products have been experimentally characterized is significantly lower. To date, there are about 50 such enzymes, most of which are fungal laccases (Morozova et al. 2007). A typical laccase gene codes for a protein of 500-600 amino acids with a molecular weight usually ranging from 60 to 90 kDa, when determined by SDS-PAGE (Kiiskinen 2004; Jolivalt et al. 2005; Viswanath et al. 2008b). The difference between the molecular weight predicted from the peptide sequence and the experimentally obtained molecular weight is caused by glycosylation, which typically accounts for about 10-20% of the total MW (Froehner and Eriksson 1974; Coll et al. 1993; Giardina et al. 1996; Wahleithner et al. 1996; Dedeyan et al. 2000; Galhaup et al. 2002). Although laccase production in organisms is known to be influenced by a number of physiological and environmental factors, little work has been done to examine the regulation of expression of laccase genes at molecular level (Fernandez-Larrea and Stahl 1996; Mansur et al. 1997). Probing by PCR-based and Northern blot methods indicates that expression of laccase genes in organisms was differentially regulated. For instance, lcc1 gene in a pathogen G. graminis was transcribed constitutively under all conditions whereas lcc2 was copper-inducible (Litvintseva and Henson 2002). Transcription of *lcc3* was observed only when the fungus was grown in association with the host plant. Similar observation on induction of transcription of laccase gene in another pathogen – Botrytis cinera occurred with only addition of pectin product of the host plant to the culture (Pezet 1998). The animal pathogen $-\overline{C}$. neoformis expresses laccase that is involved in biosynthesis of melaninlike pigment in mouse tissue. Transcript levels of *lcc1* and 2 in Basidiomycete I-62 were inducible by veratryl alcohol during different stages of life cycle whereas lcc3 was not inducible (Mansur et al. 1998). Addition of 2,5 xylidine to the culture increased lcc1 mRNA levels in Trametes villosa (Yaver and Golightly 1996) but did not affect lcc2 mRNA levels.

Laccase production is subject to complex regulation by nutrients in the culture medium during the fungal growth (Soden and Dobson 2001; Cavallazzi et al. 2005; Dekker et al. 2007). Expression of laccase in some fungi is regulated by nitrogen-limiting conditions (Kirk and Farrell 1987; Perie and Gold 1991; Eggert et al. 1996; Pointing et al. 2000) while in others nitrogen sufficiency results in enhanced enzyme production. The effect of various nutrient nitrogen concentrations on expression of *lcc* genes at molecular level in T. Versicolor was examined (Collins and Dobson 1997). There was a direct correlation between concentration of nitrogen nutrient in growth medium and the level of lcc expression by T. versicolor. In Basidiomycetes 1-62 under nonlimiting nitrogen conditions, lcc1 and lcc2 transcript levels increased 100-fold over limting conditions (Mansur et al. 1998). The use of 1% cellulose as a carbon source increased both lcc1 mRNA and lcc2 mRNA of Lentinula edodes (Zhao and Kwan 1999). A medium with high nitrogen has been shown to induce transcription of laccase genes in the Basidiomycete I-62 (CECT 20197) and in Pleurotus sajor-caju (Soden and Dobson 2001).

Copper is also often a strong inducer of laccase gene transcription, and this has been suggested to be related to a defense mechanism against oxidative stress caused by free copper ions (Fernandez-Larrea and Stahl 1996; Collins and Dobson 1997; Palmieri *et al.* 2000; Soden and Dobson 2001; Galhaup *et al.* 2002; Litvintseva and Henson 2002; Dekker *et al.* 2007). In addition to copper, other metal ions such as Mg^{2+} , Cd²⁺ or Hg²⁺ can stimulate laccase expression (Scheel *et al.* 2000; Soden and Dobson 2001; Galhaup *et al.* 2002). Metal response elements (MRE) with consensus sequences are found in the promoter regions of two fungal *laccase* genes of *P. anserine* (Fernandez–Larrea and Stahl 1996) and the Basidiomycete PM 1 (Coll *et al.* 1993). Involvement of these elements on copper induction of expression of *lcc* genes needs to be further assessed.

Certain aromatic compounds that are structurally related to lignin precursors, such as 2,5-xylidine or ferulic acid, have also been shown to increase laccase gene transcription in *Trametes villosa*, *T. versicolor* and *Pleurotus sajor-caju* (Yaver *et al.* 1996; Collins and Dobson 1997; Soden and Dobson 2001). Current understanting of differential expression of *laccase* genes in lignolytic organisms is fragmentary and needs to be further improved.

HETEROLOGOUS PRODUCTION OF LACCASES

The most important obstacles to commercial application of laccases are the lack of sufficient enzyme stocks and the cost of redox mediators. In order for laccases to be effective in environmental detoxification, large amounts of active enzyme are needed. Since an inexpensive source of laccase must be obtained for the some potential applications to become a reality. There have been several reports of heterologous expression of recombinant laccases (Table 1). Laccase genes from Myceliophthora thermophila (Bulter et al. 2003), Trametes versicolor (Cassland and Jonsson 1999; Klonowska et al. 2005), Coriolus hirsutus (Kojima et al. 1990) and Melanocarpus albomyces (Kiiskinen and Saloheimo 2004) in Saccharomyces cerevesiae were expressed. Similarly, expression of laccase genes from Pleurotus sajor - caju (So-den et al. 2002), Trametes trogii (Colao et al. 2006) and Pycnoporus cinnabarinus (Otterbein et al. 2000) was in Pichia pastoris (Hong et al. 2002), those from Pleurotus ostreus (Piscitelli et al. 2005; Faraco et al. 2008) in Kluveromyces lactis, Trametes versicolor laccase genes in Yar-ronia lipolytica (Jolivolt et al. 2005) and the laccase gene of Coriolus hirsitus (Sonoki et al. 2005) and Lentinula edodes (Sakamoto et al. 2008) was in tobacco, Myceliophthora laccase gene in Aspergillus oryzae (Berka et al. 1997), and the Pycnoporus laccase gene (Record et al. 2002) and Trametes versicolor in Aspergillus niger (Bohlin et al. 2006). Laccase production levels have often been improved significantly by expression in heterologous hosts, but the reported levels are still rather low for industrial applications (Table 1). The common problems associated with heterologous expression of fungal enzymes are incorrect folding of the polypeptide and inefficient codon usage of expression organisms, resulting in non-functional or low yields of enzyme. The incorrect substitution of carbohydrate residues during glycosylation of proteins, which is due to preferential utilization of specific carbohydrates by the expression organism, may pose an additional problem to heterologous expression. These problems are being overcome by using more advanced organisms as expression hosts whose codon usage and molecular folding apparatus are suitable for correct expression of these proteins.

The importance of adequate copper concentration for proper laccase folding was further corroborated by studies in which two genes related to copper-trafficking in *T. versicolor* were over-expressed in *S. cerevisiae* expressing *T. versicolor lcc3* gene; the heterologous laccase production by *S. cerevisiae* was improved up to 20-fold (Uldschmid *et al.* 2003). The effect was suggested to result from more efficient transport of copper to the Golgi compartment (Uldschmid *et al.* 2003).

Directed evolution has also been used for improving heterologous laccase production. A site directed mutation/ random mutation in the *Myceliophthora thermophila* laccase gene accompanied by evolution resulted in the highest

Table 1	Laccase	production	in	heterol	logous	hos
---------	---------	------------	----	---------	--------	-----

Table T Lacease production in neterologous nosis		
Laccase gene	Production host	Laccase production (mg1 ⁻¹)*
Ceriporiopsis subvermispora lcs-1 (Larrondo et al. 2003)	Aspergillus nidulans	1.5
	Aspergillus niger	1.5
Myceliophthora thermophila lcc1 (Bulter et al. 2003)	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	18
Pleurotus sajor-caju lac4 (Soden et al. 2002)	Pichia pastoris	4.9
Pycnoporus cinnabarinus lac1 (Record et al. 2002)	Aspergillus niger	70
Pycnoporus cinnabarinus lac1 (Sigoillot et al. 2004)	Aspergillus oryzae	80
Trametes versicolor (Jolivalt et al. 2005)	Yarrowia lipolytica	2.5
Trametes versicolor lac1 & lac2 (Bohlin et al. 2006)	Pichia pastoris	2.8
Trametes trogii lac1 (Colao et al. 2006)	Pichia pastoris	17

* The reported production levels have been obtained in shake flask cultivations, except in the case of Phlebia radiata laccase which was produced in a laboratory fermenter.

reported laccase production level in *S. cerevisiae* but also enhanced K_{cat} of the enzyme (Bulter *et al.* 2003). A similar strategy with *Fome lignosus* yielded mutant laccase enzyme with four substitutions (Hu *et al.* 2007). This mutant enzyme exhibited improved kinetic properties due to rapid movement of water along water channel in the enzyme molecule. A themostable laccase that tolerates high concentrations of solvents is the genetic product of five rounds of directed evolution in *Saccchromyces cerevisiae* (Zumarraga *et al.* 2007). Thus, efforts have to be made in order to achieve cheap overproduction of this biocatalyst in heterologous hosts and also their modification by chemical means of protein engineering to obtain more robust, active and tailormade enzymes.

INDUSTRIAL APPLICATIONS

Laccases of fungi are of particular interest with regard to potential industrial applications, because of their capability to oxidize a wide range of toxic and environmentally problematic substrates. Oxidation reactions are comprehensively used in industrial processes, for instance in the textile, food, wood processing, pharmaceutical and chemical industries. Enzymatic oxidation is a potential substitute to chemical methods, since enzymes are very specific and efficient catalysts, and are ecologically sustainable. Laccases are currently studied intensively for many applications and they are already used in large scale in the textile industry (Tzanov et al. 2003; Rodríguez Couto and Toca Herrera 2006; Casieri et al. 2008). Related to textile bleaching, in 1996 Novozyme (Novo Nordisk, Denmark) launched laccase enzyme in denim finishing: DeniLite. In 2001, the company Zytex (Zytex Pvt Ltd. Mumbai, India) developed a formulation based on LMS capable of degrading indigo in a very specific way. The trade name of the product is Zylite. Together with low molecular weight redox-mediator compounds, laccases can generate a desired worn appearance on denim by bleaching indigo dye (Campos et al. 2001). The potential use of laccase for bleaching has been investigated and this has even led to the esoteric suggestion of using laccase in the presence of hydroxyl stilbenes as hair dyes (Onuki et al. 2000). Another potential environmental application for laccases is the bioremediation of contaminated soils, as laccases are able to oxidize toxic organic pollutants, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Manzanares et al. 1995; Canas et al. 2007; Martin et al. 2007; Camarero et al. 2008) and chlorophenols (Gianfreda et al. 1999; Michizoe et al. 2005; Ford et al. 2007). The most useful method for this application would probably be inoculating the soil with fungi that are efficient laccase-producers, because the use of isolated enzymes is not economically feasible for soil remediation in large scale. The current practical applications of the use of laccase, has led to a search for source of the enzyme from white-rot fungi, and the use of mediators, which promote or facilitate enzyme action.

Laccases, when acting on lignin, can display both ligninolytic and polymerizing (cross-linking) abilities. The substrate range of laccase can be extended to cover both phenolic and non-phenolic compounds by means of laccasemediator systems (LMS), which makes laccase suitable for, e.g., biobleaching of lignocellulosic pulps. As laccase/LMS can also help remove pitch, phenolic contaminants, and dyes from wood-based materials and water, laccase technology is virtually applicable to the entire production chain of paper products from pulping to recovery of secondary fibers and effluent treatment. Indeed, most of the published research and applications of laccase/LMS in the forest products industry relate to the pulp and paper sector, where particular emphasis has been placed on studying laccase/LMS for use in biobleaching and mill water treatment (Petri and Andreas 2008). Emerging research areas include the tailoring of lignocellulosic materials by laccase-assisted biografting of phenols and other compounds, and the use of laccase for adhesion enhancement in binderless wood boards (Petri and Andreas 2008). Recently, the utility of laccases has also

been applied to Nanobiotechnology (Rodríguez Couto and Toca Herrera 2006). This is an increasing research field mainly due to the fact that laccases are able to catalyse

	Table 2	Recent	industrial	applications	of fungal	laccases.
--	---------	--------	------------	--------------	-----------	-----------

Application	Laccase source	Reference
Decolorization	Trametes medusta	Rehorek et al. 2004
of dyes	Trametes versicolor	Blanquez et al. 2004
	Pycnoporus cinnabarinus	Camarero et al. 2004
	T. versicolor	Camarero et al. 2004
	Pleurotus ostreatus	Hou et al. 2004
	Pleurotus eryngii	Camarero et al. 2004
	T. villosa	Knutson and Ragauskas 2004
	T. versicolor	Tavares et al. 2004
	T. versicolor	Moreira et al. 2004
	Trametes hirsuta	Rodriguez Couto et al. 2004a
	T. hirsuta	Rodriguez Couto et al. 2004b
	T. hirsuta, T. versicolor	Rodriguez Couto <i>et al.</i> 2004c
	P. ostreatus	Palmieri <i>et al.</i> 2005
	Coriolopsis rigida Europia trogii	Gomez et al. 2005
	T unaria irogii T hirsuta	Dominguez at al. 2005
	T. mirsuu T. madusta	Michael <i>et al</i> 2005
	Trametes trogii	Levin <i>et al</i> 2005
	T hirsuta	Rodriguez Couto <i>et al</i> 2005
	Collybia sp	Mc Erlean <i>et al</i> 2006
	Collvbia drvophila	Baldrian and Snaidr 2006
	Mycena inclinata	Baldrian and Snajdr 2006
	T. versicolor	McErlean et al. 2006
	P. ostreatus	McErlean et al. 2006
	P. ostreatus CCBAS477	Baldrian and Snajdr 2006
	P. sajor-caju	Murugesan et al. 2006
	Pycnoporus coccineus	Chairattanamanokorn <i>et al.</i> 2006
	Rhizoctonia solani	Mc Erlean et al. 2006
	Stropharia	Baldrian and Snajdr 2006
	rugosoannulata	
	T. versicolor CCBAS 614	Baldrian and Snajdr 2006
	T. hirsuta	Rodriguez Couto et al. 2006
	T. hirsuta	Rodriguez Couto and Toca Herrera 2006
	T. versicolor CCT 4521	Minussi et al. 2007b
	Stereum ostrea	Viswanath et al. 2008b
Degradation of	Trametes pubescens	Nicotra et al. 2004
xenobiotics	Panus tigrinus	Zavarzina et al. 2004
	Cladosporium	Potin <i>et al.</i> 2004
	sphaerospermum	
	Myceliophtora	Nicotra <i>et al.</i> 2004
	thermophila	Mardan et al 2004
	Knus vernicijera T	Deder et al. 2004
	T. versicolor T. versicolor	Mup Jupg at $al 2004$
	P ostreatus T versicolor	Keum and Li 2004
	Clavarionsis aquatica	Junghanns <i>et al</i> 2005
	Stachybotrys chartarum	Mander <i>et al.</i> 2006
	Stropharia	Steffen <i>et al.</i> 2007
	rugosoannulata	
	Stropharia coronilla	Steffen et al. 2007
	Coriolopsis polyzona	Cabana et al. 2007
	Rigidoporus lignosus	Cambria et al. 2008
Effluent	Rhus vernicifera	Durante et al. 2004
treatment	Panus tigrinus	D'Annibale et al. 2004
	Pycnoporus coccineus	Jaouani et al. 2005
	Phanerochaete	Lee et al. 2006
	chrysosporium	
	T. versicolor CCT 4521	Minussi et al. 2007b
	T. versicolor	Pedroza <i>et al.</i> 2007
	Trametes versicolor	Minussi et al. 2007a
	Irametes villosa	Minussi et al. 2007a
	Lenunuia eaoaes	Minussi <i>et al.</i> 2007a
	Tramatas trogij	Filouze et al 2007a
	Lontinus tiarinus	Filouze et al 2008
	Lenning ugi mus	LIIOULC CI UI. 2000

Table 2 (Co

Application	Laccase source	Reference
Biosensors	Agaricus bisporus, T.	Timur et al. 2004
	versicolor	
	Aspergillus niger	Timur et al. 2004
	Agaricus bisporus, T.	Vianello et al. 2004
	versicolor	
	C. unicolor	Jarosz-Wilkolazka et al. 2004
	T. versicolor	Gomes et al. 2004
	T. versicolor	Ferry and Leech 2005
	T. versicolor	Roy et al. 2005
	C. unicolor	Jarosz-Wilkolazka et al. 2005
	Coriolos versicolor	Liu et al. 2006
	Cerrena unicolor	El Kaoutit et al. 2008
	Trametes hirsuta	El Kaoutit et al. 2008
	Cerrena unicolor	Karnicka et al. 2008
	T. versicolor	Boussaad et al. 2008
Biopulping	Phanerochaete	Sigoillot et al. 2005
	chrysosporium,	
	Pleurotus eryngii	
	Trametes versicolor, T.	Minussi et al. 2007a
	villosa	
	Lentinula edodes	Minussi et al. 2007a
	Botrytis cinerea	Minussi et al. 2007a
	Trametes versicolor	Oudia et al. 2008
Organic	Rigidoporus lignosus	Garavaglia et al. 2004
synthesis	Lentinus tigrinus	Ferraroni et al. 2007
	Myceliophthora	Zumárraga et al. 2007
	thermophila	
	Pleurotus ostreatus	Festa et al. 2008
Food industry	Phellinus robustus	Songulashvili et al. 2006
	Ganoderma adspersum	Songulashvili et al. 2006
	Trametes hirsuta	Selinheimo et al. 2006
	Trametes hirsuta	Schroeder et al. 2008
	Trametes hirsuta	Flander et al. 2008

electron transfer reactions without additional cofactors and to the development of several techniques for the immobilisation of biomolecules such as micropatterning, self-assembled monolayers and layer-by-layer technique. These techniques can be used to immobilize laccases preserving their enzymatic activity. **Table 2** shows several recent applications of laccases with reference to bioremediation.

LACCASES - ROLE IN BIOREMEDIATION

Laccases have received much attention from researchers during the past decades due to their broad substrate range and to the fact that they use molecular oxygen as the final electron acceptor instead of hydrogen peroxide as used by peroxidases. This makes laccases highly interesting for a wide variety of processes, such as textile dye decolourization, pulp bleaching, effluent detoxification, biosensors and bioremediation. One of the major environmental problems, faced by the world today, is the contamination of soil, water, and air by toxic chemicals. With industrialization and the extensive use of pesticides in agriculture, the pollution of the environment with organic compounds has become a serious problem. Eighty billion pounds of hazardous organopollutants are produced annually in the United States and only 10% of these are disposed of safely (Reddy and Mathew 2001). Certain hazardous compounds, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), pentachlorophenols (PCP), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB), 1,1,1-trichloro-2,2-bis(4chlorophenyl)ethane (DDT), benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene (BTEX) and trinitrotoluene (TNT) are persistent in the environment and are known to have carcinogenic and/or mutagenic effects. The ability of fungi to transform a wide variety of hazardous chemicals has arisen interest in using them in bioremediation (Alexander 1994; Riva 2006). Enzymatic treatment is currently considered an alternative method for the removal of toxic xenobiotics from the environment (Gianfreda et al. 1999).

The laccase of the ectomycorrhizal fungus Xerocomus chrysenteron responds to DDT stress in various ways, suggesting a large potential of biodegradation or minerali-zation of DDT (Chao *et al.* 2008). Biodegradation of 2,4dichlorophenol using response surface methodology by the laccase of *Pleurotus* sp. is one of the recent applications demonstrated by Bhattacharya and Banerjee (2008). The mechanism(s) of bisphenol A (BPA) to induce cell proliferation and the occurrence of its bioremediation by treatment with laccase are reported by Bolli et al. (2008). BPA, a naturally-occurring pollutant that can be used as a model of environmental estrogen action complexity, promotes human cancer cell proliferation via ER-alpha-dependent signal transduction pathways. BPA oxidation by laccase impairs the binding of this environmental estrogen to ER-alpha loosing all its ER-alpha-dependent effect on cancer cell proliferation. Moreover, the laccase-catalyzed oxidation of BPA reduces the BPA cytotoxic effect (Bolli *et al.* 2008). Recently, aqueous solutions polluted by BPA have been bioremediated by using laccase (Trametes versicolor) immobilized on hydrophobic membranes in non-isothermal bioreactors (Ricupito et al. 2008). Mohamad et al. (2008) described the design of a laccase of Trametes versicolor with broader substrate spectrum in bioremediation. They described the application of evolutionary trace (ET) analysis of laccase at the ligand binding site for optimal design of the enzyme. In this attempt, class specific sites from ET analysis were mapped onto known crystal structure of laccase. These findings provide a foundation to the design of laccase with a broader substrate spectrum for further expansion of laccase application in industry and bioremediation.

Degradation of xenobiotics

One of the most efficient processes to remove pollutants from environment is through biodegradation of xenobiotics. It is the process by which living organisms degrade or transform hazardous organic contaminants into less toxic compounds. Screening of indigenous microbes from the pollutant contaminated site for their degradation potential is one way to approach the problem. Thus, microorganisms that can degrade various pollutants have been isolated with the eventual goal of exploiting their metabolic potential for the degradation of polluted sites (Spain *et al.* 2000; Dua *et al.* 2002; Furukawa 2003).

Laccases are able to oxidize a broad range of xenobiotic compounds including chlorinated phenolics (Bollag et al. 2003; Colao et al. 2006), pesticides (Torres et al. 2003; Gorbatova *et al.* 2006; Ford *et al.* 2007) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Pozdnyakova *et al.* 2004; Tekere *et* al. 2007; Koschorreck et al. 2008). Moreover, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, which arise from natural oil deposits and utilization of fossil fuels, were also found to be degraded by laccases (Pointing 2001; Hu et al. 2007; Galli et al. 2008). Laccase purified from a strain of Coriolopsis gallica oxidized carbozole, N-ethylcarbozole, fluorine and dibenzothiophene in presence of 1-hydroxybenzotriazole and 2.2'-azinobis (3-ethylbenzthiazoline)-6-sulfonic acid as free radical mediators (Bressler et al. 2000). Patel et al. (2008) established the effective role of laccase of Pleurotus ostreatus HP-1 in bioremediation of PAHs contaminated sites. Laboratory experiments have demonstrated that phenols and aromatic amines may be removed from water by the application of laccase (Dec and Bollag 2000). The underlying mechanism of the removal involves enzymatic oxidation of the pollutants to free radicals or quinones that undergo polymerization and partial precipitation (Dec and Bollag 2000). Laccase from white-rot fungus, Trametes hirsuta, has been used to oxidize alkenes (Niku-Paavola and Viikari 2000). The oxidation is the effect of a two-step process in which the enzyme first catalyses the oxidation of primary substrate, a mediator added to the reaction, and then the oxidized mediator oxidizes the secondary substrate, the alkene, to the corresponding ketone or aldehyde. In addition to substrate

oxidation, laccase can also immobilize soil pollutants by coupling to soil humic substances – a process analogous to humic acid synthesis in soils (Bollag and Myers 1992). The xenobiotics that can be immobilized in this way include phenolic compounds and anilines such as 3,4-dichloroaniline, 2,4,6-trinitrotoluene or chlorinated phenols (Ahn *et al.* 2002). The immobilization lowers the biological availability of the xenobiotics and thus their toxicity. A laccase produced in the yeast, *Pichia pastoris*, was engineered by sitedirected mutagenesis to improve the rate of electron transfer between the copper-containing active site of laccase and an electrode (Gelo *et al.* 1999). Thus, laccase may be usefully engineered to improve the efficiency of particular bioremediation processes.

Decolourization of dyes

The textile industry accounts for two-thirds of the total dyestuff market and consumes large volumes of water and chemicals for wet processing of textiles (Riu et al. 1998). The chemical reagents used are very diverse in their composition, ranging from inorganic compounds to polymers and organic products (Banat et al. 1996). There are about 1,000,000 commercially available dyes with over 7×10^5 tonnes of dyestuff produced annually (Zollinger 2002). Representatives of different classes of synthetic dyes, classified in the colour index (C.I.) according to chemical structure (Wesenberg *et al.* 2003). Due to their chemical structure dyes are resistant to fading on exposure to light, water and different chemicals and most of them are difficult to decolourize due to their synthetic origin. Government legislation is becoming more and more stringent, especially in the more developed countries, regarding the removal of dyes from industrial effluents (Poots and McKay 1976). Concern arises, as several dyes are made from known carcinogens such as benzidine and other aromatic compounds. Most currently existing processes to treat dye wastewater are ineffective and not economical. Therefore, the development of processes based on laccases seems an attractive solution due to their potential in degrading dyes of diverse chemical structure (Hou et al. 2004) including synthetic dyes currently employed in the industry (Rodríguez Couto et al. 2005). The use of laccase in the textile industry is growing very fast, since besides to decolorize textile effluents as commented above, laccase is used to bleach textiles and even to synthesize dyes (Setti et al. 1999; Kandelbauer et al. 2004). Flavodon flavus decolourized several synthetic dyes like Azure B, Brilliant Blue R in low nitrogen medium (Raghukumar 2000). Alternatively, laccase, along with stabilizers, may be suitable for treatment of wastewater (Soares et al. 2001a, 2001b). Partial decolorization of two azo dyes and complete decolorization of two triphenylmethane dyes (bromophenol blue and malachite green) was achieved by cultures of *Pycnoporus sanguineus* producing laccase as the sole phenoloxidase (Pointing and Vrijmoed 2000). *Tra*metes hirsuta, and a laccase purified from the fungus, was able to degrade triarylmethane, indigoid, azo and anthraquinonic dyes used in dyeing textiles (Abadulla et al. 2000b) as well as 23 industrial dyes (Rodríguez et al. 1999). The purified laccase of white rot fungi Pleurotus ostrea and Stereum ostrea, decolorized textile dyes i.e., Remazol black-5, Remazol blue-19 and Remazol orange-16 (Palmieri et al. 2005; Viswanath et al. 2008b). More than 90% of decolorization activity was observed after 16 h incubation with laccase at 20 nkat/ml for all the textile dyes used in their study. The degradation of azo dyes, which are the most widely used colorants, has been studied most (Heinfling et al. 1997; Chagas and Durrant 2001; Martins et al. 2003; Ciullini et al. 2008; Tauber et al. 2008). Other classes, such as anthraquinone (Knapp et al. 1995; Swamy and Ramsay 1999; Lu et al. 2007; Guo et al. 2008), phthalocyanin (Knapp et al. 1995; Heinfling et al. 1997; Huang et al. 2007) and polymeric dyes (Glenn and Gold 1983; Camarero et al. 2005) were also shown to be susceptible to biodegradation by laccases of white rot fungi. The demand for removal of

synthetic dyes released from textile industries using laccase is being increased tremendously (Abadulla *et al.* 2000a; Zille *et al.* 2003; Baldrian and Snajdr 2006; Viswanath *et al.* 2008b; Casieri *et al.* 2008). Therefore, searching for potential laccases to cope with this demand is an important task in the area of dye degradation.

Effluent treatment

Laccases from fungi offer several advantages of great interest for biotechnological applications of industrial effluent treatment. As they exhibit broad substrate specificity, they can bleach kraft pulp or detoxify agricultural byproducts including olive mill wastes or coffee pulp (D'Annibale et al. 2000). Laccase of an isolate of the fungus, Flavodon flavus, was shown to decolourize the effluent from a kraft paper mill bleach plant (Raghukumar 2000). Laccase purified from white-rot basidiomycete, T. villosa degrades bisphenol A, an endocrine-disrupting chemical (Setti et al. 1999). Nonylphenols have increasingly gained attention because of their potential to mimic the action of natural hormones in vertebrates (Ying et al. 2002). They result from incomplete biodegradation of nonylphenol polyethoxylates (NPEOs), which have been widely used as non-ionic surfactants in industrial processes. Both nonylphenols and NPEOs are discharged into the environment, mainly due to incomplete removal of wastewater treatment facilities (Ying et al. 2002). Nonylphenols are more resistant to biodegradation than their parent compound and hence are found worldwide in wastewater treatment plant effluents and rivers (Heemken et al. 2001). Due to their hydrophobicity, they tend to absorb onto surface water particles and sediments and accumulate in aquatic organisms. Consequently, nonylphenols represent a serious environmental and human health risk. Laccases from aquatic hyphomycete *Clavariopsis aquatica*, has proved to degrade xenoestrogen nonylphenol (Junghanns et al. 2005). In addition to the potential role of such degradation processes for natural attenuation processes in freshwater environments, laccase also offers new perspectives for biotechnological applications such as wastewater treatment

Simple bioinformatics searches that incorporate multiple sources of data offer a quicker and more rapid means of identifying new potential targets for bioremediation as compared to conventional method. Protein-ligand docking tool can be used to screen pollutants for their susceptibility to degradation by already characterized enzyme. As the substrate specificity differs from one laccase to other, laccase from different sources can be utilized for degrading different pollutants. Although docking has been successfully used for drug screening (Drews 2000), its utility in predicting the pollutants which can be potential targets for bioremediation has not been acknowledged so far (Suresh *et al.* 2008).

The most important obstacles for reaping benefits from non-specific reaction mechanism of laccase for bioremediation purpose in maintenance of clean environment are lack of inexpensive enzyme stocks and redox mediators. Rapid progress has been made over the past few years and current level of understanding of regulation of expression of *laccase* genes has to be improved further. Efforts have to be put forth for expression of *laccase* genes in heterologous hosts with larger capacity for secretion of protein. It is expected that laccases will be able to compete with other processes such as elemental chlorine free totally chlorine bleaching and effluent treartment. Tailor-made laccase for specific purposes will become a possibility.

CONCLUSIONS

Laccases are blue copper proteins which catalyze oxidation reactions coupled to four electron reduction of molecular oxygen to water. Because of the versatility of potential substrates, laccases are highly interesting as novel biocatalysts in various industrial processes. This review provided information on distribution and physiological functions of laccases with their biotechnological applications with special reference to bioremediation with recent account. In addition, deeper understanding of the biochemistry of laccase will facilitate the development of novel and more economical laccase applications.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Buddolla Viswanath was supported by a grant from University Grants Commission. We are very grateful to the University Grants Commission, New Delhi, India for financial support and encouragement.

REFERENCES

- Abadulla E, Tzanov T, Costa S, Robra KH, Cavaco-Paulo A, Gubitz GM (2000a) Decolorization and detoxification of textile dyes with a laccase from *Trametes hirsuta. Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **66**, 3357-3362
- Abadulla E, Robra KH, Gubitz GM, Silva L, Cavaco-Paulo A (2000b) Enzymatic decourization of textile dyeing effluents. *Textile Research Journal* 70, 409-414
- Abdel-Raheem A, Shearer CA (2002) Extracellular enzyme production by freshwater ascomycetes. *Fungal Diversity* 11, 1-19
- Ahn MY, Dec J, Kim JE, Bollag M (2002) Treatment of 2,4-dichlorophenol polluted soil with free and immobilized laccase. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 31, 1509-1515
- Alexander M (1994) *Biodegradation and Bioremediation*, Academic Press, San Diego, California, 302 pp
- Aramayo R, Timberlake W (1990) Sequence and molecular structure of the Aspergillus nidulans yA (laccase I) gene. Nucleic Acids Research 18, 3415-3418
- Augustine AJ, Kragh ME, Sarangi R, Fujii S, Liboiron BD, Stoj CS, Kosman DJ, Hodgson KO, Hedman B, Solomon EI (2008) Spectroscopic studies of perturbed T1 Cu sites in the multicopper oxidases *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* Fet3p and *Rhus vernicifera* laccase: allosteric coupling between the T1 and trinuclear Cu sites. *Biochemistry* 47, 2036-2045
- Baldrian P (2006) Fungal laccases-occurrence and properties. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 30, 215-242
- Baldrian P, Snajdr J (2006) Production of lignolytic enzymes by litter-decomposing fungi and their ability to decolourize synthetic dyes. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 39, 1023-1029
- Banat IM, Nigam P, Singh D, Marchant R (1996) Microbial decolorization of textile-dye-containing effluents: a review. *Bioresource Technology* 58, 217-227
- Banerjee UC, Vohra RM (1991) Production of laccase by Curvularia sp. Folia Microbiologica 36, 343-346
- Bao W, O'Malley DM, Whetten R, Sederoff RR (1993) A laccase associated with lignification in Loblolly pine xylem. *Science* 260, 672-674
- Berka RM, Brown SH, Xu F, Schneider P, Oxenboll, KM, Aaslyng DA (1997) Purified *Myceliophthora* laccases and nucleic acids encoding same. *US Patent Applicant* US5981243
- Bertrand G (1985) Sur la laccase et sur le pouvoir oxydant de cette diastase. CR Acadamy of Sciencies (Paris) 120, 266-269
- Bhattacharya SS, Banerjee R (2008) Laccase mediated biodegradation of 2,4dichlorophenol using response surface methodology. *Chemosphere* 73, 81-85
- Blanquez P, Casas N, Font X, Gibarrell M, Sarra M, Caminal G (2004) Mechanism of textile metal dye transformation by *Trametes versicolor*. Water *Research* 38, 2166-2172
- Bligny R, Douce R (1983) Excretion of laccase by sycamore (Acer pseudoplatanus L.) cells. Purification and properties of the enzyme. Biochemistry Journal 209, 489-496
- Bohlin C, Jönsson LJ, Roth R, Zyl WH (2006) Heterologous expression of Trametes versicolor laccase in Pichia pastoris and Aspergillus niger. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 129-134, 195-214
- Bollag JM, Chu HL, Rao MA, Gianfreda L (2003) Enzymatic oxidative trans-formations of chlorophenol mixtures. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 32, 63-69
- Bollag JM, Myers C (1992) Detoxification of aquatic and terrestrial sites through binding pollutants to humic substances. *Science of the Total Environment* 118, 357-356
- Bolli A, Galluzzo P, Ascenzi P, Del Pozzo G, Manco I, Vietri MT, Mita L, Altucci L, Mita DG, Marino M (2008) Laccase treatment impairs bisphenol A-induced cancer cell proliferation affecting estrogen receptor alphadependent rapid signals. *IUBMB Life* in press
- Bourbonnais R, Leech D, Paice MG (1998) Electrochemical analysis of the interactions of laccase mediators with lignin model compounds. *Biohimica et Biophysica Acta* **1379**, 381-390

Bourbonnais R, Paice MG, Reid ID, Lanthier P, Yaguchi M (1995) Lignin oxidation by laccase isozymes from *Trametes versicolor* and role of the mediator 2,2'-azinobis (3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonate) in Kraft lignin depolymerization. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **61**, 1876-1880

- Boussaad S, Diner BA, Fan J (2008) Influence of redox molecules on the electronic conductance of single-walled carbon nanotube field-effect transistors: application to chemical and biological sensing. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 130, 3780-3787
- Bressler DC, Fedorak PM, Pickard MA (2000) Oxidation of carbazole, Nethylcarbazole, fluorine and dibenzothiophene by the laccase of Coriolopsis gallica. Biotechnology Letters 22, 1119-1125
- Bulter T, Alcalde M, Sieber V, Meinhold P, Schlachtbauer C, Arnold FH (2003) Functional expression of a fungal laccase in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by directed evolution. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 69, 987-995
- Cabana H, Jiwan JL, Rozenberg R, Elisashvili V, Penninckx M, Agathos SN, Jones JP (2007) Elimination of endocrine disrupting chemicals nonylphenol and bisphenol A and personal care product ingredient triclosan using enzyme preparation from the white rot fungus *Coriolopsis polyzona*. *Chemosphere* 67, 770-778
- Camarero S, Cañas AI, Nousiainen P, Record E, Lomascolo A, Martínez MJ, Martínez AT (2008) P-hydroxycinnamic acids as natural mediators for laccase oxidation of recalcitrant compounds. *Environmental Science and Technology* 42, 6703-6709
- Camarero S, Garcia O, Vidal T, Colom J, del Rio JC, Gutierrez A (2004) Efficient bleaching of non-wood high-quality paper pulp using laccasemediator system. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 35, 113-120
- Camarero S, Ibarra D, Martínez MJ, Martínez AT (2005) Lignin-derived compounds as efficient laccase mediators for decolorization of different types of recalcitrant dyes. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 71, 1775-1784
- Cambria MT, Minniti Z, Librando V, Cambria A (2008) Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by *Rigidoporus lignosus* and its laccase in the presence of redox mediators. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* 149, 1-8
- Campos R, Kandelbauer A, Robra K, Cavaco-Paulo A, Gubitz G (2001) Indigo degradation with purified laccases from *Trametes hirsuta* and *Sclerotium rolfsii. Journal of Biotechnology* 89, 131-140
- Campoy S, Alvarez-Rodríguez ML, Recio E, Rumbero A, Coque JJ (2008) Biodegradation of 2,4,6-TCA by the white-rot fungus *Phlebia radiata* is initiated by a phase I (O-demethylation)-phase II (O-conjugation) reactions system: implications for the chlorine cycle. *Environmental Microbiology* in press
- Canas AI, Alcalde M, Plou F, Martínez MJ, Martínez AT, Camarero S (2007) Transformation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by laccase is strongly enhanced by phenolic compounds present in soil. *Environmental Science and Technology* **8**, 2964-2971
- Casieri L, Varese GC, Anastasi A, Prigione V, Svobodová K, Marchisio VF, Novotný C (2008) Decolorization and detoxication of reactive industrial dyes by immobilized fungi *Trametes pubescens* and *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Folia Microbiologica* 53, 44-52
- Cassland P, Jonsson LJ (1999) Characterization of a gene encoding *Trametes* versicolor laccase A and improved heterologous expression in *Saccharomy*ces cerevisiae by decreased cultivation temperature. *Applied and Environ*mental Microbiology **52**, 393-400
- Cavallazzi JRP, Kasuya CM, Soares MA (2005) Screening of inducers for laccase production by *Lentinula edodes* in liquid medium. *Brazilian Journal* of Microbiology 36, 383-387
- Chagas EP, Durrant LR (2001) Decolorization of azo dyes by Phanerochaete chrysosporium and Pleurotus sajorcaju. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 29, 473-477
- Chairattanamanokorn P, Imai T, Kondo R, Ukita M, Prasertsan P (2006) Screening thermotolerant white-rot fungi for decolorization of wastewaters. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* **128**, 195-204
- Chao YQ, Huang Y, Fei YH, Yang Q (2008) Tolerance and enzyme response of ectomycorrhizal fungi Xerocomus chrysenteron to DDT stress. *Huan Jing Ke Xue* 29, 788-794
- Ciullini I, Tilli S, Scozzafava A, Briganti F (2008) Fungal laccase, cellobiose dehydrogenase, and chemical mediators: combined actions for the decolorization of different classes of textile dyes. *Bioresource Technology* 99, 7003-7010
- Claus H (2003) Laccases and their occurrence in prokaryotes. Archives of Microbiology 179, 145-150
- Claus H (2004) Laccases: structure, reactions, distribution. Micron 35, 93-6
- Colao MC, Lupino S, Garzillo AM, Buonocore V, Ruzzi M (2006) Heterologous expression of lcc1 gene from *Trametes trogii* in *Pichia pastoris* and characterization of the recombinant enzyme. *Microbial Cell Factories* 12, 31-38
- Coll PM, Abalos JMF, Villanueva JR, Santamaria R, Perez P (1993) Purification and characterization phenoloxidase (laccase) from the lignin-degrading basidiomycete PM1 (CECT 2971). Applied and Environmental Microbiology 59, 2607-2613
- Collins PJ, Dobson ADW (1997) Regulation of laccase gene transcription in Trametes versicolor. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63, 3444-3450

- D'Annibale A, Ricci M, Quaratino D, Federic F, Fenice M (2004) Panus tigrinus efficiently removes phenols, colour and organic load from olive-mill wastewater. Research in Microbiology 55, 596-603
- D'Annibale A, Stazi SR, Vinciguerra V, Sermanni GG (2000) Oxirane-immobilized *Lentinula edodes* laccase: stability and phenolic removal efficiency in olive mill wastewater. *Journal of Biotechnology* 77, 265-273
- De Marco A, Roubelakis-Angelakis KA (1997) Laccase activity could contribute to cell-wall reconstitution of regenerating protoplasts. *Phytochemistry* 46, 421-425
- **Dec J, Bollag JM** (2000) Phenoloxidase-mediated interactions of phenols and anilines with humic materials. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **29**, 665-676
- Dedeyan B, Klonowska A, Tagger S, Tron T, Iacazio G, Gil G, Le Petit J (2000) Biochemical and molecular characterization of a laccase from *Marasmius quercophilus*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **66**, 925-929
- Dekker RF, Barbosa AM, Giese EC, Godoy SD, Covizzi LG (2007) Influence of nutrients on enhancing laccase production by *Botryosphaeria rhodina* MAMB-05. *International Microbiology* 10, 177-85
- Dittmer NT, Suderman RJ, Jiang H, Zhu YC, Gorman MJ, Kramer KJ, Kanost MR (2004) Characterization of cDNAs encoding putative laccaselike multicopper oxidases and developmental expression in the tobacco hornworm, *Manduca sexta*, and the malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 34, 29-41
- **Dodor DE, Hwang HM, Ekunwe SIN** (2004) Oxidation of anthracene and benzo(a)pyrene by immobilized laccase from *Trametes versicolor*. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* **35**, 210-217
- Dominguez A, Rodríguez Couto S, Sanroman MA (2005) Dye decolourization by *Tranetes hirsute* immobilized into alginate beads. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 21, 405-409
- Dong JL, Zhang YW, Zhang RH, Huang WZ, Zhang YZ (2005) Influence of culture conditions on laccase production and isozyme patterns in the whiterot fungus *Trametes gallica*. Journal of Basic Microbiology 45, 190-198
- Drews J (2000) Drug discovery: a historical perspective, Science 287, 1960-1964
- Dua M, Singh A, Sethunathan N, Johri AK (2002) Biotechnology and bioremediation: successes and limitations. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 59, 143-152
- Dubé E, Shareck F, Hurtubise Y, Daneault C, Beauregard M (2008) Homologous cloning, expression, and characterisation of a laccase from *Streptomyces coelicolor* and enzymatic decolourization of an indigo dye. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 79, 597-603
- Durante D, Casadio R, Martelli L, Tasco G, Portaccio M, De Luca, Bencivenga U, Rossi S, Di Martino S, Grano V, Diano N, Mita D (2004) Isothermal and non-isothermal bioreactors in the detoxification of waste water polluted by aromatic compounds by means of immobilized laccase from *Rhus vernicifera. Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic* 27, 191-206
- Edens WA, Goins TQ, Dooley D, Henson JM (1999) Purification and characterization of a secreted laccase of *Gaeumannomyces graminis* var. *tritici*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **65**, 3071-3074
- Eggert C, Temp U, Eriksson KE (1996) The ligninolytic system of the white rot fungus *Pycnoporus cinnabarinus*: purification and characterization of the laccase. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* **62**, 1151-1158
- El-Kaoutit M, Naranjo-Rodríguez I, Temsamani KR, Domínguez M, Hidalgo-Hidalgo de Cisneros JL (2008) Investigation of biosensor signal bioamplification: comparison of direct electrochemistry phenomena of individual Laccase, and dual Laccase-Tyrosinase copper enzymes, at a Sonogel-Carbon electrode. *Talanta* 75, 1348-1355
- Ellouze M, Aloui F, Sayadi S (2008) Detoxification of Tunisian landfill leachates by selected fungi. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **150**, 642-648
- Enguita FJ, Martins LO, Henriques AO, Carrondo MA (2003) Crystal structure of a bacterial endospore coat component: A laccase with enchanced thermostability properties. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278, 19416-19425
- Faraco V, Ercole C, Festa G, Giardina P, Piscitelli A, Sannia G (2008) Heterologous expression of heterodimeric laccase from *Pleurotus ostreatus* in *Kluyveromyces lactis. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 77, 1329-1335
- Faure D, Bouillant ML, Bally R (1994) Isolation of Azospirillum lipoferum 4T Tn5 mutants affected in melanization and laccase activity. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60, 3413-3415
- Fernandez-Larrea J, Stahl U (1996) Isolation and characterization of a laccase gene from Podospora anserine. Molecular and General Genetics 252, 539-551
- Ferraroni M, Myasoedova NM, Schmatchenko V, Leontievsky AA, Golovleva LA, Scozzafava A, Briganti F (2007) Crystal structure of a blue laccase from *Lentinus tigrinus*: evidences for intermediates in the molecular oxygen reductive splitting by multicopper oxidases. *BMC Structural Biology* 7, 60-65
- Ferry Y, Leech D (2005) Amperometric detection of catecholamine neurotransmitters using electrocatalytic substrate recycling at a laccase electrode. *Electroanalysis* 17, 2113-2119

Festa G, Autore F, Fraternali F, Giardina P, Sannia G (2008) Development

of new laccases by directed evolution: Functional and computational analyses. Proteins: *Structure, Function*, and *Bioinformatics* **72**, 25-34

- Flander L, Rouau X, Morel MH, Autio K, Seppänen-Laakso T, Kruus K, Buchert J (2008) Effects of laccase and xylanase on the chemical and rheological properties of oat and wheat doughs. *Journal of Agricultural* and *Food Chemistry* 56, 5732-5742
- Ford CI, Walter M, Northcott GL, Di HJ, Cameron KC, Trower T (2007) Fungal inoculum properties: extracellular enzyme expression and pentachlorophenol removal in highly contaminated field soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality* 16, 1599-1608
- Froehner SC, Eriksson KE (1974) Purification and properties of Neurospora crassa laccase. Journal of Bacteriology 120, 458-465
- Furukawa K (2003) 'Super bugs' for bioremediation. Trends in Biotechnology 21, 187-190
- Galhaup C, Goller S, Peterbauer CK, Strauss J, Haltrich D (2002) Characterization of the major laccase isoenzyme from *Trametes pubescens* and regulation of its synthesis by metal ions. *Microbiology* 148, 2159-2169
- Galli E, Brancaleoni E, Di Mario F, Donati E, Frattoni M, Polcaro CM, Rapanà P (2008) Mycelium growth and degradation of creosote-treated wood by basydiomycetes. *Chemosphere* 72, 1069-1072
- Garavaglia S, Cambria MT, Miglio M, Ragusa S, Iacobazzi V, Palmieri F, D'Ambrosio C, Scaloni A, Rizzi M (2004) The structure of *Rigidoporus lignosus* Laccase containing a full complement of copper ions, reveals an asymmetrical arrangement for the T3 copper pair. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 342, 519-1531
- Gavnholt B, Larsen K (2002) Molecular biology of plant laccases in relation to lignin formation. *Plant Physiology* **116**, 273-280
- Gelo PM, Kim HH, Butlin, NG, Palmore GTR (1999) Electrochemical studies of a truncated laccase produced in *Pichia pastoris*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65, 5515-5521
- Germann UA, Lerch K (1986) Isolation and partial nucleotide sequence of the laccase gene from *Neurospora crassa*: Amino acid sequence homology of the protein to human ceruloplasmin. *Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences USA* 83, 8854-8858
- Gianfreda L, Xu F, Bollag JM (1999) Laccases: A useful group of oxidoreductive enzymes. Bioremediation Journal 3, 1-25
- Giardina P, Cannio R, Mstyitsni L, Marzullo L, Palmieri G, Sannia G (1995) Cloning and sequencing of a laccase gene from the lignin degrading basidiomycete *Pleurotus ostreatus*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61, 2408-2413
- Giardina P, Aurilia V, Cannio R, Marzullo L, Amoresano A, Siciliano R, Pucci P, Sannia G (1996) The gene, protein and glycan structures of laccase from *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 235, 508-515
- Giardina P, Palmieri G, Scaloni A, Fontanella B, Faraco V, Cennamo G, Sannia G (1999) Protein and gene structure of a blue laccase from *Pleurotus* ostreatus. Biochemistry Journal 341, 655-663
- Givaudan A, Effose A, Faure D, Potier P, Bouillant ML, Bally R (1993) Polyphenol oxidase in Azospirillum lipoferum isolated from rice rhizosphere: evidence for laccase activity in non-motile strains of Azospirillum lipoferum. FEMS Microbiology Letters 108, 205-210
- Glenn JK, Gold MH (1983) Decolorization of several polymeric dyes by the lignin-degrading basidiomycete *Phanerochaete chrysosporium Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 45, 1741-1747
- Gomes SASS, Nogueira JMF, Rebelo MJF (2004) Amperometric biosensor for polyphenolic compounds in red wine. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 20, 1211-1216
- Gomez J, Pazos M, Rodríguez Couto S, Sanroman MA (2005) Chestnut shell and barley bran as potencial substrates for laccase production by Coriolopsis rigida under solid-state conditions. Journal of Food Engineering 68, 315-319
- Gorbatova ON, Koroleva OV, Landesman EO, Stepanova EV, Zherdev AV (2006) Increase of the detoxification potential of basidiomycetes by induction of laccase biosynthesis. *Prikladnaia Biokhimiia I Mikrobiologiia* 42, 468-474
- Guo M, Lu F, Liu M, Li T, Pu J, Wang N, Liang P, Zhang C (2008) Purification of recombinant laccase from *Trametes versicolor* in *Pichia methanolica* and its use for the decolorization of anthraquinone dye. *Biotechnology Letters* in press
- Hakulinen N, Kiiskinen LL, Kruus K, Saloheimo M, Paananen A, Koivula A (2002) Crystal structure of alaccase of *Melanocarpus albomyces* with an intact trinuclear copper site. *Nature Structural Biology* 9, 601-605
- Hatakka A (2001) Biodegradation of lignin. In: Hofrichter M, Steinbuchel A (Eds) Lignin, Humic Substances and Coal, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, pp 129-179
- Heemken OP, Reincke H, Stachel B, Theobald N (2001) The occurrence of xenoestrogens in the Elbe river and the North Sea. *Chemosphere* 45, 249-259
- Heinfling A, Bergbauer M, Szewzyk U (1997) Biodegradation of azo and phthalocyanine dyes by *Trametes versicolor* and *Bjerkandera adusta*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 48, 261-266
- Hoegger PJ, Kilaru S, James TY, Thacker JR, Kües U (2006) Phylogenetic comparison and classification of laccase and related multicopper oxidase protein sequences. *FEBS Journal* 273, 2308-2326

- Hong FN, Meinander Q, Jonsson LJ (2002) Fermentation strategies for improved heterologous expression of laccase in *Pichia pastoris*. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 79, 438-449
- Hoopes JT, Dean JFD (2004) Ferroxidase activity in a laccase like multicopper oxidase from *Liriodendron tulipifera*. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* 42, 27-33
- Hoshida H, Nakao M, Kanazawa H, Kubo K, Hakukawa T, Morimasa K, Akada R, Nishizawa Y (2001) Isolation of five laccase gene sequences from the white-rot fungus *Trametes sanguinea* by PCR, and cloning, characterization and expression of the laccase cDNA in yeasts. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 92, 372-380
- Hou H, Zhou J, Wang J, Du C, Yan B (2004) Enhancement of laccase production by *Pleurotus ostreatus* and its use for the decolourization of anthraxquinone dye. *Process Biochemistry* 39, 1415-1419
- Hu X, Zhang Y, Zhao X, Hwang HM (2007) Biodegradation of benzo[a] pyrene with immobilized laccase: genotoxicity of the products in Ha Cat and A3 cells. *Environmental Molecular Mutagenesis* 48, 106-113
- Huang HW, Zoppellaro G, Sakurai T (1999a) Four-electron reduction of dioxygen by *Rhus vernicifera* laccase. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry* 74, 169-169
- Huang HW, Zopellaro G, Sakurai T (1999b) Spectroscopic and kinetic studies on the oxygen-centred radical formed during the four electon reduction process of dioxygen by *Rhus vernicifera* laccase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 32718-32724
- Huang J, Liu C, Xiao H, Wang J, Jiang D, Gu E (2007) Zinc tetraaminophthalocyanine-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticle composite for laccase immobilization. *International Journal of Nanomedicine* 2, 775-784
- Hüttermann A, Mai C, Kharazipour A (2001) Modification of lignin for the production of new compounded materials. *Applied Microbiology and Bio*technology 55, 387-394
- Ikeda R, Sugita T, Jacobson ES, Shinoba T (2003) Effects of melanin upon susceptibility of *Corptococcus* to antifungals. *Microbiology and Immunology* 47, 271-277
- Iyer G, Chattoo BB (2003) Purification and characterization of laccase from the rice blast fungus *Magnaporthe grisea*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 227, 121-126
- Jaouani A, Guillen F, Penninckx MJ, Martinez AT, Martinez MJ (2005) Role of Pycnoporus coccineus laccase in the degradation of aromatic compounds in olive oil mill wastewater. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 36, 478-486
- Jarosz-Wilkolazka A, Ruzgas T, Gorton L (2004) Use of laccase-modified electrode for amperometric detection of plant flavonoids. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 35, 238-241
- Jarosz-Wilkolazka A, Ruzgas T, Gorton L (2005) Amperometric detection of mono and diphenols at *Cerrena unicolor* laccase-modified graphite electrode: correlation between sensitivity and substrate structure. *Talanta* 66, 1219-1224
- Jolivalt C, Madzak C, Brault A, Caminade E, Malosse C, Mougin C (2005) Expression of laccase IIIb from the white-rot fungus *Trametes versicolor* in the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica* for environmental applications. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 66, 450-456
- Jonsson LJ, Saloheimo M, Penttila M (1997) Laccase from the white-rot fungus Trametes versicolor: cDNA cloning of lcc1 and expression in Pichia pastoris. Current Genetics 32, 425-430
- Joo SS, Ryu IW, Park JK, Yoo YM, Lee DH, Hwang KW, Choi HT, Lim CJ, Lee do I, Kim K (2008) Molecular cloning and expression of a laccase from *Ganoderma lucidum*, and its antioxidative properties. *Molecules and Cells* **25**, 112-118
- Junghanns C, Moeder M, Krauss G, Martin C, Schlosser D (2005) Degradation of the xenoestrogen nonylphenol bu aquatic fungi and their laccases. *Microbiology* 151, 45-57
- Kandelbauer A, Erlacher A, Cavaco-Paulo A, Gubitz GM (2004) Laccasecatalyzed decolorization of the synthetic azo-dye Diamond Black PV 200 and of some structurally related derivatives. *Biocatalysis and Biotransformation* 22, 331-339
- Karnicka K, Miecznikowski K, Kowalewska B, Skunik M, Opallo M, Rogalski J, Schuhmann W, Kulesza PJ (2008) ABTS-modified multiwalled carbon nanotubes as an effective nediating system for bioelectrocatalytic reduction of oxygen. *Analytical Chemistry* in press
- Keum YS, Li QX (2004) Copper dissociation as a mechanism of fungal laccase denaturation by humic acid. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 64, 588-592
- Kiiskinen LL (2004) Characterization and heterologous production of a novel laccase from *Melanospora albomyces*. *Espoo*, VTT Publications 556
- Kiiskinen LL, Kristiina K, Michael B, Erkko Y, Matti S, Markku S (2004) Expression of *Melanospora albomyces* laccase in *Trichoderma reesei* and characterization of the purified enzyme. *Microbiology* 150, 3065-3074
- Kiiskinen, LL, Saloheimo M (2004) Molecular cloning and expression in Saccharomyces cerevisiae of a laccase gene from the ascomycete Melanocarpus albomyces. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70, 137-144
- Kiiskinen LL, Viikari L, Kruus K (2002) Purification and characterization of a novel laccase from the ascomycete *Melanocarpus albomyces*. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 59, 198-204

- Kim Y, Cho NS, Eom TJ, Shin W (2002) Purification and characterization of a laccase from *Cerrena unicolor* and its reactivity in lignin degradation. *Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society* 23, 985-989
- Kirk TK, Farrell RL (1987) Enzymatic "combustion": the microbial degradation of lignin. Annual review of Microbiology 41, 465-505
- Klonowska A, Gaudin C, Asso M, Fournel A, Reglier M, Tron T (2005) LAC3, a new low redox potential laccase from *Trametes* sp. strain C30 obtained as recombinant protein in yeasts. *Enzymology and Microbial Technology* 36, 34-41
- Knapp JS, Newby PS, Reece LP (1995) Decolorization of dyes by wood-rotting basidiomycete fungi. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 17, 664-668
- Knutson K, Ragauskas (2004) Laccase-mediator biobleaching applied to a direct yellow dyed paper. *Biotechnology Progress* 20, 1893-1896
- Kojima Y, Kita Y, Tsukuda Y (1990) DNA for expression and secretion. European Patent Applicant EP0388166
- Koschorreck K, Richter SM, Swierczek A, Beifuss U, Schmid RD, Urlacher VB (2008) Comparative characterization of four laccases from *Trametes* versicolor concerning phenolic C-C coupling and oxidation of PAHs. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 1, 213-219
- Larrondo LF, Avila M, Salas L, Cullen D, Vicuna R (2003) Heterologous expression of laccase cDNA from *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora* yields copperactivated apoprotein and complex isoform patterns. *Microbiology* 149, 1177-1182
- Lee JW, Lee SM, Hong EJ, Jeung EB, Kang HY, Kim MK, Choi IG (2006) Estrogenic reduction of styrene monomer degraded by *Phanerochaete chry-sosporium* KFRI 20742. *The Journal of Microbiology* 44, 177-184
- Leontievsky AA, Vares T, Lankinen P, Shergill JK, Pozdnyakova NN, Myasoedova NM, Kalkkinen N, Golovleva LA, Cammack R, Thurston CF, Hatakka A (1997) Blue and yellow laccases of ligninolytic fungi. FEMS Microbiology Letters 156, 9-14
- Levin L, Forchiassin F, Viale A (2005) Ligninolytic enzyme production and dye decolourization by *Trametes trogii*: application of the Plackett-Burman experimental design to evaluate nutritional requirements. *Process Biochemistry* 40, 1381-1387
- Litvintseva AP, Henson JM (2002) Cloning, characterization, and transcription of three laccase genes from *Gaeumannomyces graminis* var tritici, the takeall fungus. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 68, 1305-1311
- Liu L, Tewari RP, Williamson PR (1999) Laccase protects Cryptococcus neoformans from antifungal activity of alveolar macrophages. Infection and Immunity 67, 6034-6039
- Liu Y, Qu X, Guo H, Chen H, Liu B, Dong S (2006) Facile preparation of amperometric laccase biosensor with multifunction based on the matrix of carbon nanotubes–chitosan composite. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 21, 2195-2201
- Lu L, Zhao M, Zhang BB, Yu SY, Bian XJ, Wang W, Wang Y (2007) Purification and characterization of laccase from *Pycnoporus sanguineus* and decolorization of an anthraquinone dye by the enzyme. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 74, 1232-1239
- Mander GJ, Wang H, Bodie E, Wagner J, Vienken K, Vinuesa C, Foster C, Leeder AC, Allen G, Hamill V, Janssen GC, Dunn-Coleman N, Karos M, Lemaire HG, Subkowshi T, Bollschweiler C, Turner G, Nusslein B, Fischer R (2006) Use of laccase as a novel, versatile reporter system in filamentous fungi. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 72, 5020-5026
- Mansur MT, Suarez T, Gonzalez AE (1998) Differential gene expression in the laccase gene family from basidiomycete 1-62 (CECT 20197). Applied and Environmental Microbiology 64, 771-774
- Mansur MT, Suarez T, Fernandez-Larrea JB, Brizuela MA, Gonzalez AE (1997) Identification of a laccase gene family in the new lignin-degrading basidiomycete CECT 20197. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63, 2637-2646
- Manzanares P, Fajardo S, Martín C (1995) Production of ligninolytic activities when treating paper pulp effluents by *Trametes versicolor*. Journal of Biotechnology 43, 125-132
- Marbach I, Harel E, Mayer AM (1984) Molecular properties of extracellular Botrytis cinerea laccase. Phytochemistry 23, 2713-2717
- Martin C, Moeder M, Daniel X, Krauss G, Schlosser D (2007) Biotransformation of the polycyclic musks HHCB and AHTN and metabolite formation by fungi occurring in freshwater environments. *Environmental Science and Technology* 1, 5395-5402
- Martins LO, Soares CM, Pereira MM, Teixeira M, Costa T, Jones GH, Henriques AO (2002) Molecular and biochemical characterization of a highly stable bacterial laccase that occurs as a structural component of the *Bacillus subtilis* endospore coat. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 18849-18859
- Martins MAM, Lima N, Silvestre AJD, Queiroz MJ (2003) Comparative studies of fungal degradation of single or mixed bioaccessible reactive azo dyes. *Chemosphere* 52, 967-973
- Mayer AM, Staples RC (2002) Laccase: new functions for an old enzyme. Photochemistry 60, 551-565
- McErlean C, Marchant R, Banat IM (2006) An evaluation of soil colonization potential of selected fungi and their production of lignolytic enzymes for use in soil bioremediation applications. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* 90, 147-158

- Mendonça RT, Jara JF, Gonzalez V, Elissetche JP, Freer J (2008) Evaluation of the white-rot fungi *Ganoderma australe* and *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora* in biotechnological applications. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology* in press
- Michael MT, Georg MG, Astrid R (2005) Degradation of azo dyes by laccase and ultrasound treatment. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 71, 2600-2607
- Michizoe J, Ichinose H, Kamiya N, Maruyama T, Goto M (2005) Biodegradation of phenolic environmental pollutants by a surfactant-laccase complex in organic media. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* 99, 642-647
- Minussi RC, Pastore GM, Durán N (2007a) Laccase induction in fungi and laccase/N-OH mediator systems applied in paper mill effluent. *Bioresource Technology* **98**, 158-164
- Minussi RC, Miranda MA, Silva JA, Ferreira CV, Aoyama H, Marangoni S, Rotilio D, Pastore GM, Durán N (2007b) Purification, characterization and application of laccase from *Trametes versicolor* for colour and phenolic removal of olive mill wastewater in the presence of 1hydroxybenzo - triazole. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 6, 1248-1254
- Moeder M, Martin C, Koeller G (2004) Degradation of hydroxylated compounds using laccase and horseradish peroxidase immobilized on microporous polypropylene hollow fiber membranes. *Journal of Membrane Science* 245, 183-190
- Mohamad SB, Ong AL, Ripen AM (2008) Evolutionary trace analysis at the ligand binding site of laccase. *Bioinformation* 18, 369-72
- Moreira MT, Viacava C, Vidal G (2004) Fed-batch decolorization of Poly R-478 by Trametes versicolor. Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology 47, 179-183
- Morozova OV, Shumakovich GP, Gorbacheva MA, Shleev SA, Yaropolov AI (2007) "Blue" laccases. *Biochemistry (Moscow)* 72, 1136-1150
- Mouso N, Diorio L, Forchiassin F (2007) Stereum hirsutum (Wild) Pers. action in dye degradation. Revista Iberoamericana de Micología 24, 294-298
- Mun-Jung H, Hyoung-Tae C, Hong-Gyu S (2004) Degradation of phenanthrene by *Trametes versicolor* and its laccases. *The Journal of Microbiology* 42, 94-98
- Murugesan K, Arulmani M, Nam IH, Kim YM, Chang YS, Kalaichelvan PT (2006) Purification and characterization of laccase produced by a white rot fungus *Pleurotus sajor-caju* under submerged culture conditions and its potential in decolorization of azo dyes. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 72, 939-946
- Nicotra S, Cramarossa MR, Mucci A, Pagnoni UM, Riva S, Forti L (2004) Biotransformation of resveratrol: synthesis of trans-dehydrodimers catalyzed by laccases from *Myceliophtora thermophyla* and from *Trametes pubescens*. *Tetrahedron* **60**, 595-600
- Niku-Paavola ML, Karhunen E, Salola P, Raunio V (1988) Ligninolytic enzymes of the white-rot fungus *Phlebia radiata*. *Biochemistry Journal* 254, 877-884
- Niku-Paavola ML, Viikari L (2000) Enzymatic oxidation of alkenes. Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic 10, 435-444
- O'Malley DM, Whetten R, Bao W, Chen CL, Sederoff RR (1993) The role of laccase in lignification. *The Plant Journal* **4**, 751-757
- Otterbein L, Record E, Longhi S, Ashter M, Moukha S (2000) Molecular cloning of the cDNA encoding laccase from *Pycnoporus cinnabarinus* 1-937 and expression in *Pichia pastoris*. *European Journal of Biochemistry*267, 1619-1625
- Onuki T, Noguchi M, Mitamura J (2000) Oxidative hair dye composition containing laccase. Pat Int Appl WO 0037, 030. Chemistry Abstracts 133, 78994m
- Oudia A, Queiroz J, Simões R (2008) The influence of operating parameters on the biodelignification of *Eucalyptus globulus* Kraft pulps in a laccase– violuric acid system. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* **149**, 23-32
- Palmer AE, Randall DW, Xu F, Solomon EI (1999) Spectroscopic studies and electronic structure description of the high potential type I copper site in fungal laccase: Insight into the effect of the axial ligand. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 121, 7138-7149
- Palmer AE, Szilagyi RK, Cherry JR, Jones A, Xu F, Solomon EI (2003) Spectroscopic characterization of the Leu513His variant of fungal laccase: Effect of increased axial ligand interaction on the geometric and electronic structure of the Type 1 Cu site. *Inorganic Chemistry* 42, 4006-4017
- Palmieri G, Cennamo G, Sannia G (2005) Remazol brilliant blue R decolourization by the fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus* and its oxidative enzymatic system. *Enzymology and Microbial Technology* 36, 17-24
- Palmieri G, Cennamo G, Farazo V, Amoresano A, Sannia G, Giardina P (2003) Atypical laccase isoenzymes from copper supplemented *Pleurotus* ostreatus cultures. *Enzyme Microbiology and Technology* 33, 220-230
- Palmieri G, Giardina P, Bianco C, Fontallella B, Sannina G (2000) Copper induction of laccase isoenzymes in the lignolytic fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus*. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 66, 920-924
- Palmieri G, Giardina P, Bianco C, Sannia G (1998) A novel white laccase from *Pleurotus ostreatus*. Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Biotechnology in the Pulp & Paper Industry, Vancouver, Canada, June 16-19, 1998, Oral presentations (A), pp 93-96
- Park KM, Park SS (2008) Purification and characterization of laccase from basidiomycete Fomitella fraxinea. Journal of Microbiology and Biotech-

nology 18, 670-675

- Patel H, Gupte A, Gupte S (2008) Biodegradation of fluoranthene by basidiomycetes fungal isolate *Pleurotus ostreatus* HP-1. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* in press
- Pedroza AM, Mosqueda R, Alonso-Vante N, Rodríguez-Vazquez R (2007) Sequential treatment via *Trametes versicolor* and UV/TiO2/Ru(x)Se(y) to reduce contaminants in waste water resulting from the bleaching process during paper production. *Chemosphere* **67**, 793-801
- Perie FH, Gold MH (1991) Manganese regulation of manganese peroxidase expression and lignin degradation by white-rot fungus *Dichomitus squalens*. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 57, 2240-2245
- Petri W, Andreas K (2008) Laccase applications in the forest products Industry: A review. *Enzymology and Microbial Technology* 42, 293-307
- Pezet R (1998) Purification and characterization of a 32-kDa laccase-like stilbene oxidase produced by *Botrytis cinerea*. FEMS Microbiology Letters 167, 203-208
- Piontek K, Antorini M, Choinowski T (2002) Crystal structure of a laccase from the fungus *Trametes versicolor* at 190-Å resolution containing a full complement of coppers. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 37663-37669
- Piscitelli A, Giardina P, Mazzoni C, Sannia G (2005) Recombinant expression of *Pleurotus ostreatus* laccases in *Kluyveromyces lactis* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 69, 428-439
- Pointing SB (2001) Feasibility of bioremediation by white-rot fungi. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 57, 20-33
- Pointing SB, Jones EBG, Vrijmoed LLP (2000) Optimization of laccase production by *Pycnoporus sanguineus* in submerged liquid culture. *Mycologia* 92, 139-144
- Pointing SB, Pelling AL, Smith GJD, Hyde KD, Reddy CA (2005) Screening of basidiomycetes and xylariaceous fungi for lignin peroxidase and laccase gene sequences. *Mycological Research* 109, 115-124
- Pointing SB, Vrijmoed LLP (2000) Decolorization of azo and triphenylmethane dyes by *Pycnoporus sanguineus* producing laccase as the sole phenoloxidase. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 16, 317-318
- Poots VJP, McKay JJ (1976) The removal of acid dye from effluent using natural adsorbents-I Peat. Water Research 10, 1061-1066
- Potin O, Veignie E, Rafin C (2004) Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by *Cladosporium sphaerospermum* isolated from an aged PAH contaminated soil. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 51, 71-78
- Pozdnyakova NN, Rodakiewicz-Nowak J, Turkovskaya OV (2004) Catalytic properties of yellow laccase from *Pleurotus ostreatus* D1. Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic 30, 19-24
- Quintanar L, Yoon J, Aznar CP, Palmer AE, Andersson KK, Britt RD, Solomon EI (2005) Spectroscopic and electronic structure studies of the trinuclear Cu cluster active site of the multicopper oxidase laccase: nature of its coordination unsaturation. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 127, 13832-13845
- Raghukumar C (2000) Fungi from marine habitats: an application in bioremediation. Mycological Research 104, 1222-1226
- Ranocha P, McDougall G, Hawkins S, Sterjiades R, Borderies G, Stewart D, Cabanes Macheteau M, Boudet AM, Goffner D (1999) Biochemical characterization, molecular cloning and expression of laccases – a divergent gene family – in poplar. European Journal of Biochemistry 259, 485-495
- Record E, Punt PJ, Chamkha M, Labat M, van Den Hondel CAMJJ, Asther M (2002) Expression of the *Pycnoporus cinnabarinus* laccase gene in Aspergillus niger and characterization of the recombinant enzyme. European Journal of Biochemistry 269, 602-609
- Reddy CA, Mathew Z (2001) Bioremediation potential of white rot fungi. In: Gadd GM (Ed) *Fungi in Bioremediation*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 52-78
- Rehorek A, Tauber M, Gubitz G (2004) Application of power ultrasound for azo dye degradation. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry* 11, 177-182
- Reinhammar B (1984) Laccase. In: Lontie R (Ed) Copper Proteins and Copper Enzymes, CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 1-35
- Ricupito A, Del Pozzo G, Diano N, Grano V, Portaccio M, Marino M, Bolli A, Galluzzo P, Bontempo P, Mita L, Altucci L, Mita DG (2008) Effect of bisphenol A with or without enzyme treatment on the proliferation and viability of MCF-7 cells. *Environment International* in press
- Riu J, Schonsee I, Barcelo D (1998) Determination of sulfonated azo dyes in groundwater and industrial effluents by automated solid-phase extraction followed by capillary electrophorosis/mass spectrometry. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* 33, 653-663
- Riva S (2006) Laccases: blue enzymes for green chemistry. Trends in Biotechnology 24, 219-216
- Rodríguez A, Falcon MA, Carnicero A, Perestelo F, Delafuente G, Trojanowski J (1996) Laccase activities of *Penicillium chrysogenum* in relation to lignin degradation. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 45, 399-403
- Rodríguez A, Pickard MA, Vazquez-Duhalt R (1999) Industrial dye decolorization by laccases from lignolytic fungi. *Current Microbiology* **38**, 27-32
- Rodríguez E, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Kooistra R, Ram A, Martínez AT, Martínez MJ (2008) Isolation of two laccase genes from the white-rot fungus *Pleurotus eryngii* and heterologous expression of the pel3 encoded protein. *Journal of Biotechnology* 134, 9-19

- Rodríguez Couto S, Hofer D, Sanroman MA, Gubitz GM (2004a) Production of laccase by *Trametes hirsuta* grown in an immersion bioreactor. Applications to decolourisation of dyes from a leather factory. *Engineering in Life Sciences* 4, 233-238
- Rodríguez Couto S, Lopez E, Sanroman MA (2006) Utilization of grape seeds for laccase production in solid state fermentation. *Journal of Food Engineering* 74, 263-267
- Rodríguez Couto S, Rosales E, Gundin M, Sanroman MA (2004c) Exploitation of a waste from the brewing industry for laccase production by two *Trametes* sp. Journal of Food Engineering 64, 423-428
- Rodríguez Couto S, Sanroman MA, Gubitz GM (2005) Influence of redox mediators and metal ions on synthetic acid dye decolorization by crude laccase from *Trametes hirsuta*. Chemosphere 58, 417-422
- Rodríguez Couto S, Sanroman MA, Hofer D, Gubitz GM (2004b) Stainless steel sponge: a novel carrier for the immobilization of the white-rot fungus *Trametes hirsuta* for decolorization of textile dyes. *Bioresource Technology* 95, 67-72
- Rodríguez Couto S, Toca Herrera JL (2006) Industrial and biotechnological applications of laccases: A review. *Biotechnology Advances* 24, 500-513
- Rodríguez Couto S, Toca Herrera JL (2007) Laccases in pollution control. Terrestrial and Aquatic Environmental Toxicology 1, 34-45
- Rogalski J, Lundell T, Leonowicz A, Hatakka A (1991) Production of laccase, lignin peroxidase and manganese-dependent peroxidase by various strains of *Trametes versicolor* depending on culture conditions. *Acta Microbiologica Polonica* 40, 221-234
- Roy JJ, Abraham TE, Abhijith KS, Sujith kumar PV, Thakur MS (2005) Biosensor for the determination of phenols based on Cross-Linked Enzyme Crystals (CLEC) of laccase. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* **21**, 206-211
- Sakamoto Y, Nakade K, Yano A, Nakagawa Y, Hirano T, Irie T, Watanabe H, Nagai M, Sato T (2008) Heterologous expression of lcc1 from *Lentinula edodes* in tobacco BY-2 cells results in the production an active, secreted form of fungal laccase. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **79**, 971-980
- Saloheimo M, Niku-Paavola ML, Knowles JK (1991) Isolation and structural analysis of the laccase gene from the lignin-degrading fungus *Phlebia radiata. Journal of General Microbiology* 137, 1537-1544
- Sanchez-Amat A, Lucas-Elio P, Fernandez E, Garcia-Borron JC, Solano F (2001) Molecular cloning and functional characterization of a unique multipotent polyphenol oxidase from *Marinomonas mediterranea*. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1547, 104-116
- Sannia G, Giardina P, Luna M, Rossi M, Buonocore V (1986) Laccase from Pleurotus ostreatus. Biotechnology Letters 8, 797-800
- Scheel T, Höfer M, Ludwig S, Hölker U (2000) Differential expression of manganese peroxidase and laccase in white-rot fungi in the presence of manganese or aromatic compounds. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 54, 686-691
- Scherer M, Fischer R (1998) Purification and characterization of laccase II of Aspergillus nidulans. Archives of Microbiology 170, 78-84
- Schneider P, Caspersen MB, Mondorf K, Halkier T, Skov LK, Ostergaard PR, Brown KM, Brown SH, Xu F (1999) Characterization of a Coprinus cinereus laccase. Enzymology and Microbial Technology 25, 502-508
- Schroeder M, Pöllinger-Zierler B, Aichernig N, Siegmund B, Guebitz GM (2008) Enzymatic removal of off-flavors from apple juice. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 7, 2485-2489
- Selinheimo E, Kruus K, Buchert J, Hopia A, Autio K (2006) Effects of laccase, xylanase and their combination on the rheological properties of wheat doughs. *Journal of Cereal Science* 43, 52-159
- Setti L, Giuliani S, Spinozzi G, Pifferi PG (1999) Laccase catalyzed-oxidative coupling of 3-methyl 2-benzothiazolinone hydrazone and methoxyphenols. *Enzymology and Microbial Technology* 25, 285-289
- Singh D, Chen S (2008) The white rot fungus Phaenerochaete chrysosporium: conditions for the production of lignin-degrading enzymes. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 81, 399-417
- Sidjanski S, Mathews GV, Vanderberg JP (1997) Electrophoretic separation and identification of phenol oxidases in hemolymph and midgut of adult *Anopheles stephensi* mosquitoes. *The Journal of Parasitology* 83, 686-691
- Sigoillot C, Camarero S, Vidal T, Record E, Asther M, Pérez-Boada M, Martínez MJ, Sigoillot JC, Asther M, Colom JF, Martínez AT (2005) Comparison of different fungal enzymes for bleaching high-quality paper pulps. *Journal of Biotechnology* 115, 333-343
- Sigoillot C, Record E, Belle V, Robert JL, Levasseur A, Punt PJ, van den Hondel CA, Fournel A, Sigoillot JC, Asther M (2004) Natural and recombinant fungal laccases for paper pulp bleaching. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 64, 346-352
- Smith M, Shjnyreva A, Wood DA, Hurston CF (1998) Tandem organization and highly disparate expression of the two laccase genes *lcc1* and *lcc2* in the cultivated mushroom *Agaricus bisporus*. *Microbiology* 144, 1063-1069
- Soares GMB, Costa FM, de Amorim MTP (2001a) Decolourization of an anthraquinone-type dye using a laccase formulation. *Bioresource Technology* 79, 171-177
- Soares GMB, Pessosa de Amorim MT, Costa FM (2001b) Use of laccase together with redox mediators to decolourize Remazol Brilliant Blue R. *Journal of Biotechnology* 89, 123-9

- Soden DM, Dobson ADW (2001) Differential regulation of laccase gene expression in *Pleurotus sajor-caju. Microbiology* 147, 1755-1763
- Soden DM, O'Callaghan J, Dobson ADW (2002) Molecular cloning of a laccase isozyme gene from *Pleurotus sajor-caju* and expression in the heterologous *Pichia pastoris* host. *Microbiology* 148, 4003-4014
- Solomon EI, Chen P, Metz M, Lee SK, Palmer AE (2001) Oxygen binding, activation, and reduction to water by copper proteins. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition* 40, 4570-590
- Sonoki T, Kajita S, Ikeda S, Uesugi M, Tatsumi K, Katayama Y, Iimura Y (2005) Transgenic tobacco expressing fungal laccase promotes the detoxification of environmental pollutants. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnolog* 67, 138-142
- Songulashvili S, Elisashvili V, Wasser S, Nevo E, Hadar Y (2006) Laccase and manganese peroxidase activities of *Phellinus Robustus* and *Ganoderma Adspersum* grown on food industry wastes in submerged fermentation. *Biotechnology Letters* 28, 1425-1429
- Spain JC, Hughes JB, Knackmuss HJ (2000) Biodegradation of Nitroaromatic Compounds and Explosives, Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, 458 pp
- Steffen KT, Schubert S, Tuomela M, Hatakka A, Hofrichter M (2007) Enhancement of bioconversion of high-molecular mass polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in contaminated non-sterile soils by litter-decomposing fungi. Biodegradation 18, 359-369
- Suresh PS, Kumar A, Kumar R, Singh VP (2008) An in silco approach to bioremediation: Laccase as a case study. Journal of Molecular Graphics and Modelling 26, 845-849
- Swamy J, Ramsay JA (1999) The evaluation of white rot fungi in the decoloration of textile dyes. *Enzymology and Microbial Technology* 24, 130-137
- Tauber MM, Gübitz GM, Rehorek A (2008) Degradation of azo dyes by oxidative processes – laccase and ultrasound treatment. *Bioresource Technology* 99, 4213-4220
- Tavares APM, Gamelas JAF, Gaspar AR, Evtuguin DV, Xavier AMRB (2004) A novel approach for the oxidative catalysis employing polyoxometalate-laccase system: application to the oxygen bleaching of kraft pulp. *Catalyst Communication* 5, 485-489
- Tekere M, Read JS, Mattiasson B (2007) Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon biodegradation by a subtropical white rot fungus in packed bed and suspended carrier bioreactor systems. *Environmental Technology* 28, 683-691
- Thakker GD, Evans CS, Rao KK (1992) Purification and characterization of laccase from *Monocillium indicum* Saxena. *Applied Microbiology and Bio*technology 37, 321-323
- Thurston CF (1994) The structure and function of fungal laccases. Microbiology 140, 19-26
- Timur S, Pazarlioglu N, Pilloton R, Telefencu A (2004) Thick film sensors based on laccases from different sources immobilized in polyani-line matrix. *Sensors and Actuators B, Chemical* 97, 132-136
- Torres E, Bustos-Jaimes I, Le Borgne S (2003) Potential use of oxidative enzymes for the detoxification of organic pollutants. *Applied Catalysis B: En*vironmental 46, 1-15
- Tzanov T, Basto C, Gübitz GM, Cavaco-Paulo A (2003) Laccases to improve the whiteness in a donventional bleaching of cotton. *Macromolecular Materials and Engineering* 288, 807-810
- Uldschmid A, Dombi R, Marbach K (2003) Identification and functional expression of *ctaA*, a P-type ATPase gene involved in copper trafficking in *Trametes versicolor*. *Microbiology* 149, 2039-2048
- Unyayar A, Mazmanci MA, Atacag H, Erkurt EA, Coral G (2005) Drimaren Blue X3LR dye decolorizing enzyme from *Funalia trogii* one step isolation and identification. *Enzymology and Microbial Technology* 36, 10-16
- Vianello F, Cambria A, Ragusa S, Cambria MT, Zennaro L, Rigo A (2004) A high sensitivity amperometric biosensor using a monomolecular layer of laccase as biorecognition element. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics* 20, 315-321
- Viswanath B, Chandra MS, Pallavi H, Reddy BR (2008a) Screening and assessment of laccase producing fungi isolated from different environmental samples. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 7, 1129-1133
- Viswanath B, Chandra MS, Kumar KP, Reddy BR (2008b) Production and purification of laccase from *Stereum ostrea* and its ability to decolorize textile dyes. *Dynamic Biochemistry, Process Biotechnology and Molecular Biology* 2, 19-25
- Wahleithner JA, Xu F, Brown KM, Brown SH, Golightly EJ, Halkier T, Kauppinen S, Pederson A, Schneider P (1996) The identification and characterization of four laccases from the plant pathogenic fungus *Rhizoctonia* solani. Current Genetics 29, 395-403
- Wesenberg D, Kyriakides I, Agathos SN (2003) White-rot fungi and their enzymes for the treatment of industrial dye effluents. *Biotechnology Advances* 22, 161-187
- Williamson PR (1994) Biochemical and molecular characterization of the diphenol oxidase of *Cryptococcus neoformans*: identification as a laccase. *Journal of Bacteriology* 176, 656-664
- Wong DWS (2008) Structure and action mechanism of lignolytic enzymes. Applied Bichemistry and Biotechnology in press
- Wood DA (1980) Production, purification and properties of extracellular laccase of Agaricus bisporus. Journal of General Microbiology 117, 327-338

- Xu F (1996) Oxidation of phenols, anilines and benzenethiols by fungal laccases: Correlation between activity and redox potentials as well as halide inhibiton. *Biochemistry* 35, 7608-7614
- Yaver DS, Golightly EJ (1996) Cloning and characterization of three laccase genes from the white-rot basidiomycete *Trametes villosa*: genomic organization of the laccase gene family. *Gene* 181, 95-102
- Yaver DS, Xu F, Golightly EJ, Brown KM, Brown SH, Rey MW, Schneider P, Halkier T, Mondorf K, Dalboge H (1996) Purification, characterization, molecular cloning, and expression of two laccase genes from the white rot basidiomycete *Trametes villosa*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 62, 834-841
- Ying GG, Williams B, Kookana R (2002) Environmental fate of alkylphenols and alkylphenol ethoxylates – a review. *Environment International* 28, 215-226
- Zavarzina AG, Leontievsky AA, Golovleva LA, Trofimov SY (2004) Biotransformation of soil humic acids by blue laccase of *Panus tigrinus* 8/18: an *in vitro* study. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **36**, 359-369

- Zhao J, Kwan HS (1999) Characterization, molecular cloning, and differential expression analysis of Laccase genes from the edible mushroom *Lentinula* edodes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65, 4908-4913
- Zille A, Tzanov T, Guebitz GM, Cavaco-Paulo A (2003) Immobilized laccase for decolourization of reactive black 5 dyeing effluent. *Biotechnology Let*ters 25, 1473-1477
- Zollinger H (2002) Synthesis, Properties and Applications of Organic Dyes and Pigments. Colour Chemistry, John Wiley-VCH Publishers, New York, pp 92-100
- Zoppellaro G, Huang HW, Sakurai T (2000) Kinetic studies on the reaction of the fully reduced laccase with dioxygen. *Inorganic Reaction Mechanisms* 2, 79-84
- Zumárraga M, Bulter T, Shleev S, Polaina J, Martínez-Arias A, Plou FJ, Ballesteros A, Alcalde M (2007) In vitro evolution of a fungal laccase in high concentrations of organic cosolvents. Chemistry and Biology 14, 1052-1064